Washington State Supreme Court JAN -4 2015 Ronald R. Carpenter,

SUPREME COURT NO. 92547-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

۰.

<u>_</u>.

IN RE THE PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION OF:

ANTHONY DEWAYNE PARKER,

PETITIONER.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Anthony D. Parker Pro Se #776122-J-B-12 Clallam Bay Corr. Cntr. 1830 Eagle Crest Way Clallam Bay, WA 98326

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Anthony D. Parker, asks this court to accept review of the decision or parts of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

The Court of Appeals Decision entered on October 19, 2015, is in direct conflict of other lower court's opinion's as well as this court's opinion's, as held in <u>State v. Irby;</u> <u>State v. Flores; State v. Green;</u> and <u>State v. Ponce</u>. See COA. Decision properly attached to this motion as App. A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

1). Was Parker deprived of effective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to suppress the **seizure** of Johanna Holliday's cell phone during the traffic stop when she was not arrested for any crime?

2). Did the State prove every element of the crime of First Degree Burglary where Parker's friend, Jennifer Prerost had let him into the house?

3). Did the State prove every element of the crime of First Degree Kidnapping where Johanna Holliday left the house willingly and was not secreted in a place where she could not be found?

4). Did the State prove every element of the crime of

1.

Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree where Dominion and Control over premises and not specific item is insufficient to prove possession?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Facts Pertaining to Issues Raised on Appeal

According to the Compliant for Search Warrant and Affidavit attached to this Motion as App. B, dated April 8, 2013. On April 4, 2013, at approximately 1900 hours, Officer Rauback observed Johanna Holliday and Alisia Crettol meeting with Travier Stevenson, who uses and sell Percocet pills.

Officer Rauback followed Crettol and Holliday away from the area, and coordinated with patrol officers to stop the vehicle. Detective Ryan Heffernan responded to the location of the stop and stood by while Holliday and Crettol were removed from the car and detained. Heffernan escorted holliday to a patrol vehicle and explained that he was investigating a possible drug transaction that had just occurred. Id. at 6.

Heffernan asked Holliday how many pills she had gotten from Stevenson. Holliday said she had gotten one pill from Stevenson. Heffernan asked Holliday where she had put the pill. Holliday responded "inside of her purse", which was sitting in the passenger seat of the vehicle. Without

2.

obtaining a "warrant to search the vehicle and remove the items" Heffernan went to the vehicle and withdrew the purse and a cell phone from the front seat of the car.

Heffernan returned with the items to Holliday and took off her hand restraints. Holliday located the pill inside of her purse and handed it over to the Detective. Heffernan showed Holliday the cell phone located on the passenger seat, which she verified was her phone, and identified the number as (360) 908-2471. Heffernan called the number, confirming the same, and **took custody** of the phone.

According to Detective Heffernan, because Holliday was cooperative throughout the interview and agreed to meet with him the following day, Holliday was not arrested for possession of a controlled subtance. i,e (Percocet). 6RP 532, 534.. RP App. D.

In fact, Heffernan had no intentions on arresting Holliday for the purchase of the drugs. RP 812-14, 890, 1012. Heffernan testified that he was looking for information on Parker and used the traffic stop as a ruse to gain that information. Heffernan stated, he thought he would go through the phone with Holliday's consent once she showed up to the meeting they had agreed to. RP 812-14, 890, 1012.

3.

On April 5, 2013, when Holliday failed to show up for the interview, detective Heffernan sought a search warrant to go into Holliday's cell phone that he had seized during the traffic stop. See Complaint No. 20130160 Id. at 7 App. B.

Even though Holliday was not stopped for prostitution or had admitted that she was prostituting, the affidavit to search and seize any information on the phone was based on insufficient probable cause that human trafficking and prostitution would be found in the cell phone.

Subsequent to the illegal seizure of the cell phone, Detective Heffernan was able to go into the phone where he found evidence of Holliday prostituting through backpage.com, and information on Parker allegedly acting as her pimp through the text messages and e-mails that he sent to her.

In order to locate Holliday, Detective Heffernan and the Bremerton Police Department orchestrated a sting operation posing as customers on backpage.com. When Holliday answered the ad she was arrested at the Oyster Bay Motel for prostitution. RP 538-540, 541-543, 814-818, 891.

During the arrest Heffernan seized Holliday's second cell phone, where he obtained a warrant to search and found more evidence of prostitution with Parker acting as her

4.

pimp through e-mails and text messages.

After Holliday's arrest at the Oyster Bay Motel, she then 'gave a recorded statement, alleging that on one occasion through the months of January thru February 2013, Parker had committed Burglary in the First Degree, Assault in the Second Degree, and Kidnapping in the First Degree. RP

. Holliday also alleged that Parker was in possession of a firearm in the month of April 2013. It was because of this statement to the police that Detective Heffernan sought another search warrant to arrest Parker for Human Trafficking and Promoting Prostitution. See App. C.

The warrant specifically stated that the body of Parker was to be arrested at the location established and to recover a firearm. Parker was arrested and the gun was located however, the police went beyond the scope of the warrant and seized Parker's cell phone, where they uncovered e-mails and text messages to and from Holliday in relation to prostitution. RP 993.

During pre-trial 3.5 and 3.6 hearings, when the State sought to admit the evidence taken from Holliday's first cell phone that was seized during the traffic stop, defense counsel should have moved to suppress that evidence because the officer had no authority to seize the phone.

5.

2. Appellate Court Decision

Parker on appeal argued that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy when the State seized evidence of the e-mails, text messages, and photos, from Holliday's cell phone that was either sent by him to Holliday or sent by Holliday to him. Statement of Additional Grounds at 19-26; and Personal Restraint Petition at 12-16.

Parker aslo argued that counsel deprived him of his right to a fair trial when counsel failed to suppress the seizure of the cell phone taken on April 4, 2013, during the traffic stop, and the evidence taken from that phone as well as Holliday's second cell phone taken on the 12th day of April 2013, during Holliday's arrest, where she gave no consent to seize nor search her phone. Statement of Additional Grounds at 26-29; and Personal restraint Petition at 16-19. SAG App. E. PRP App. F.

In addition to the illegal search and seizure, Parker further argued that the State failed to prove that he committed first degree burglary. SAG at 7-8; Kidnapping in the first degree. SAG at 9-11; and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the first degree. SAG at 12-15.

The court granted Parker's petition on the illegal search and seizure and ordered a reference hearing. Appendix

6.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

)

A. The court of appeals ordered appointment of counsel to represent Parker at the hearing on Parker's claim that J.H.'s cell phones were illegally searched and seized. Id. reference hearing is include 1) a 27. The to at specification of all evidence on J.H.'s cell phones to which Parker's asserted privacy interest extended; 2) whether such evidence was admitted at trial; and 3) if not admitted, whether such evidence led to other evidence that was admitted at trial; 4) a specification of what evidence admitted at trial, independent of that listed in paragraphs 1 to 3, supported Parker's convictions. Id. at 28.

court concluded that "because of The Parker's . . . sufficient evidence threats proves that Parker unlawfully entered or remained in the house; and because Pakrker pushed J.H. towards the door, pushed her into the back seat of his car, and sped off, the jury could have found that J.H. did not willingly leave with Parker. Rather, she did so because of the use of force or threatened force. Id. at 13-14; and because the police found the firearm in the house where Parker lived the State presented sufficient evidence for the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Parker constructively possessed the firearm. Id. at 15.

In the matter of ineffective assistance of counsel,

7.

for failure to move to suppress the evidence taken from J.H.'s cell phones, the court concluded that because Hinton, 169 Wn.App. 28, (2012) was still good law Parker lacked standing to challenge the search, thus, counsel's decision not to move to suppress this evidence was objectively reasonable." Id. at 18.

E. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD</u> <u>BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT.</u>

BECAUSE THIS CASE INVOLVES SIGNIFICANT QUESTIONS OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS, THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW.

1. <u>Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Deprived Parker</u> Of The Right To A Fair Trial Where Counsel Failed To Suppress the Illegal Seizure Of Johanna Holliday's Cell Phone That Was Taken During The Traffic Stop And The Admitted Evidence Retrieved From That Cell Phone!

Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article 1 section 22 (amend 10) of the Washington State Constitution guarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel in criminal proceedings. State v. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of fact and law reviewed de novo." State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant.. NOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW must establish that his attorney's performance was deficient and the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. Hendrickson, 129 wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). Deficient performance is performance falling "below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all circumstances." State v. Mcfarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The prejudice prong requires the defendant must show that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial whose resultis relaible. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.

In this case, the Court of Appeals reasoned that because Parker had no standing to challenge the contents of the cell phone taken during the traffic stop Parker did not suffer ineffective assistance of counsel. See App. A. at 18. This reasoning was based on the fact that Hinton, 169 Wn.App. 28 (2012) was still good law at the time of Parker's trial.

However, prior to the search of the cell phone, the court needed to consider the way that Holliday's cell phone was seized during the traffic stop, before it can make the determination of whether Parker did not suffer ineffective assistance of counsel. See **State v. Green**, 177 Wn.App. 332,

9.

312 P.3d 669 (Div. 1 2013) (According to the plain text of article 1 section 7, search or seizure is improper only if it is executed without "authority of law."). Here, the police had no authority to seize Holliday's cell phone during the traffic stop. State v. Snapp, supra. When Holliday admitted to buying the drug and claimed it was in her purse which was inside of the vehicle, the police should have sought a search warrant before removing anything from the vehicle. State Campbell, v. Wn.App. ,(Div.III)(published Feb 14, 2012)(29392-1illustrate; police attempted TII). to То arrange а controlled buy of ecstacy pills from Mr. Joseph. Mr. Joseph arrived at a pre-arranged location as one of several passengers in a car. 'while negotiating with the informant who was trying to buy the pills, Mr. Joseph walked to and from the car, said he needed to discuss the terms of the sale with his partner, and said the pills were in the car. Ultimately Mr. Joseph left without completing the sale. Shortly after Mr.Joseph left, police stopped the car in which he was a passenger. Ms. Campbell was also a passenger in the car. Police detained all of the occupants of the car while they waited for a warrant to search the car. Police ultimately got a warrant to search the car and its contents

10.

and found ecstacy pills in Ms. Campbell's purse).

Campbell makes it clear that Detective Heffernan had to obtain a warrant before removing Holliday's purse and cell phone from the car. Thus, under article 1 section 7, officers have no authority of law to search a vehicle incident to arrest even if they reasonably believe or can articulate probable cause that the vehicle contains evidence of the crime of arrest. State v. Louthan, 175 Wn.2d 751, 287 P.3d 8 (2012). A warrantless vehicle search incident to the arrest of a recent occupant of a vehicle when it is reasonable to believe that evidence relevant to the crime of arrest might be found in the vehicle is not permitted under the state constitution's prohibition against disturbance of private affairs ... without authority of law. West's Art. 1, section 7; State v. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012).

While Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862 (2014) had not issued before Parker was arrested in 2013, the Hinton Court addressed several cases that stood for the proposition that Parker's private affairs were protected from governmental intrusion without the authority of law. Id. at 868 (citing State v. Valdez, 167 Wash.2d 761, 772, 224 P.3d 751 (2009); State v. Myrick, 102 Wash.2d 506, 511, 688 P.2d 151

11.

(emphasis added). The "authority of law" required by article 1, section 7 is a valid warrant unless the State shows that a search or seizure falls within one of the jealously guarded and carefully drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement. State v. Miles, 160 Wash.2d 236, 244, 156 P.3d 864 (2007); State v. Rife, 133 Wash.2d 140, 150-51, 943 P.2d 266 (1997).

Because Holliday was not arrested during the traffic stop, absent a warrant, there wasn't any exception to the warrant requirement. State v. Miles, supra. When Detective Heffernan chose to not arrest Holliday for the drugs his probable cause became void. In Flores, a most recent case, the appellate court addressed the issue of whether police officers have probable cause to search or seize of a non arrested individual. State v. Flores, 2015 WL 3915782 (Wash.App. Div. 3)(2015) The court held; where the suspect was not arrested, probable cause to search did not justify search of vehicle. "The existence of probable cause, standing alone, does not justify a warrantless search". State v. Tibbles, 169 Wash.2d 364, 369, 236 P.3d 885 (2010).

The State bears the burden of establishing that an exception to the search warrant requirement applies to a warrantless search. State v. Snapp, 174 Wash.2d 177, 187-88,

12.

275 P.3d 289. The State must show that an exception to the warrant requirement applies by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Garvin, 166 Wash.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). In this case, the State has failed to make that showing. State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 869, 319 P.3d 9 (2014).

It is because of this failure that defense counsel should have moved to suppress the search of the vehicle, and the seizure of the cell phone. State v. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d 177 supra. For the Court of Appeals to reason that Parker did not suffer effective counsel due to Hinton, 169 Wn.App. 28, being good law. Id at 18. The court would want us to overlook State v. Valsez, supra; State v. Snapp, supra; State v. Louthan, supra; State v. Campbell, supra; and State v. Tibbles, supra, as controlling authority prior to Hinton, 179 wn.2d 869, that stood for the proposition that Parker had the right to challenge the seized cell phone taken during the traffic stop.

Although, the affidavit to search and seize evidence from Johanna Holliday's cell phone was approved by the magistrate all subsequently uncovered evidence becomes "fruit of the poisonous tree." State v. Vanness, 186 Wn.App. 148, 344 P.3d 713 (Div. 1. 2015).

Here, during the search of the first cell phone

13.

taken on the 4th of April, 2013, Detective Heffernan found that Johanna Holliday was prostituting on backpage.com, and that Parker was linked to the prostitution by the e-mails and text messages sent to and from Holliday and Parker. RP 538-540, 541-543, 812-814, 890, 1012; Complaint For Search Warrant at 6-8, dated April 8th 2013; App. B.

Subsequent to the search of the first cell phone, arrested and taken into custody for Holliday was 541-543, 814-821, 891. prostitution. RP While being interrogated, Holliday gave Detective Heffernan a lengthy statement about her activities with Parker. RP 819-821, 899-900. It was based on this arrest and interview that a warrant was issued for Parker's arrest for Human Trafficking, Promoting Prostitution, Burglary, kidnapping, Assault, and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. RP 903-904.

Because of the above facts, Parker had argued in his PRP at 14, and SAG at 24-25, even assuming there was a warrant to search the first cell phone, the detective lacked authority to seize the phone. Citing **State v. Hinton**, 179 Wn.2d 862, supra; and **State v. Winterstein**, 167 Wn.2d 620, 636, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009). The evidence taken from Holliday's first cell phone was the nexus to the police learning about Parker and his involvement with Holliday. It

14.

was also link to Parker being charged for the Stated crimes. Had the detective not seized the phone during the traffic stop he would not have known about Holliday prostituting on backpage.com or Parker's involvement at that particular time.

The fruit of the poisonous tree extends to all evidence obtained from the illegal seizure. State v. Green, 177 Wn.Wpp. 332, 312 P.3d 669 (2013), while the focus is on what evidence on J.H.'s cell phones Parker had a privacy interest to, the focus should also be on whether the detective had "authority to seize" the phone prior to the search. State v. White, 97 Wash.2d 92, 101, 640 P.2d 1061 1982)(citing Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963) (Evidence directly produced by an unlawful seizure in inadmissible). State v. Kichinko, 26 Wn.App. 304, 310-11, 613 P.2d 792 (1980). It is the arrest itself --- not probable cause --- that constitutes the necessary authority of law to search under article 1, section 7. State v. O'Neil, 148 Wn.2d 564, 585-86, 62 P.3d 489 (2003); 'The essence of a provision forbidding the acquisition of evidence in a certain way is that not merely evidence so acquired shall not be used before the court but that it shall not be used at all.' Agnello v. United States,

15.

269 U.S. 20, 33, 46 S.Ct. 4, 70 1.Ed. 145 (1925). The admission of evidence obtained by the illegal seizure and search was error and prejudicial to substantial right's of Mr. Parker. State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 319 P.3d 9 (2014)(citing State v. Valdez, 167 wash.2d 506, 511, 688 P.2d 151 (2009). Therefore, absent a valid warrant to seize Holliday's cell phone during the traffic stop, all evidence obtained from the search of that phone must be suppressed as fruits of the poisonous tree. See State v. Green, 177 Wn.App. 332, 312 P.3d 669 (2013); State v. Monaghan, 165 782, 266 P.3d 222 (2012); State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.App. Wash.2d 506, 511, 688 P.2d 151 (2009). That evidence includes: Human Trafficking, Promotiing Prostitution, Burglary, Kidnapping, Assault, and Possession of a Firearm. State v. Vanness, 186 Wn.App. 148, 344 P.3d 713 (2015).

Because defense counsel failed to suppress the tainted evidence, Parker suffered ineffective assistance of counsel as held in State v. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d 177, supra and State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862 supra. See also Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Absent the tainted evidence the State could not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Parker committed crime(s) charged. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99

16.

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