NO. 92547-0

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Feb 04, 2016, 4:56 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### ANTHONY DEWAYNE PARKER,

Petitioner.

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 73667-1-I Kitsap County Superior Court No. 13-1-00597-1

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

Anthony Dewayne Parker #776122 Clallam Bay Corrections Center 1830 Eagle Crest Way Clallam Bay WA 98326

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

After Parker left for the funeral, she called Flewellen, and asked him to drive her to a few calls so she could earn some money for drugs. 5RP 491. After she got as pill they went to Flewellen's house in Bremerton. 5RP 491, 493. Her phone ran out of minutes, so she called Parker from Flewellen's phone and told him she was calling from the 7-Eleven where she was buying a card for her phone. 5RP 491. Parker was already back in Bremerton, and told her to get out of the car and walk home immediately. 5RP 491. Then Parker said he would come get her at the 7-Eleven and she said she was already on the way and hung up. 5RP 491.

Flewellen had already left his house by then. Before he left, Holliday told him that she did not want to stay with Parker because of the way he was treating her. 5RP 492. Flewellen said she could stay with him. 5RP 492. She said she did not want to stay that day because all her belongings were in Parker's house, and she was afraid of what he would do with them. 5RP 492. Flewellen told her she needed to "choose up." She did not make a decision, so Flewellen left and went to Seattle. 5RP 492. She was there at Flewellen's house with Jennifer Prerost and Prerost's eight-year-old daughter. 5RP 492-93. Prerost had worked for Parker in the past. 5RP 492.

Parker figured out that she was at Flewellen's apartment and

showed up and banged on the door. 5RP 493. They did not answer the door or say anything and he kept banging and yelled that he knew she was in there. 5RP 493. He told Prerost that was not going to hurt her and that she better let him in. 5RP 494. Holliday went into Flewellen's bedroom and locked the door, and Prerost let Parker into the apartment. 5RP 494.

Parker broke the bedroom door down. 5RP 494. Holliday was on the floor behind the door and Parker yelled at her to get up. 5RP 495. She was crying and apologizing and begging him not to. 5RP 495. Parker grabbed her by her hair and threw her against the wall. 5RP 496. Holliday wet herself. 5RP 496. Then he smashed her head against the wall several times. 5RP 496. She was on the floor again and he kept hitting her and telling her to get up. 5RP 496. He told her to get out, so she got up and began walking out of the house. 5RP 496. She kept telling him she was sorry and begging him to stop hitting her. 5RP 496. She told him her purse was in the bedroom closet, and he responded that it did not matter, he would get it later. 5RP 497. He told her to get in the car. 5RP 497. There was a woman in the front, so she got in the back. 5RP 497.

When they dropped the woman off, Parker told her to get in the front seat. 5RP 498. She did not want to because she was afraid he would hurt her again. 5RP 499. As soon as she put her seatbelt on, he started hitting her again and banged her head against the side window. 5RP 499.

Parker told her that he was taking her to his "cousin's" house. 5RP 499, 523. He told her that his friends would do whatever he told them, that they would rape her or kill her if he asked. 5RP 499. She was afraid. 5RP 500. When they got to the house, he hit her and made her bleed. 5RP 500. He apologized and got her a napkin. 5RP 501. Shortly after that he started hitting her again. 5RP 501. He repeated the sequence of being nice and then hitting her several times. 5RP 501.

Parker went into the house and told Holliday to wait in the car. 5RP 501. Parker came back out and told her to come inside. 5RP 502. She said she did not want to because she had wet herself and was embarrassed. 5RP 502. He told her to put on his jacket and they went in. 5RP 502. She had bruises on her face blood dripping from a cut on her eye. 5RP 502. They walked in and Parker told her to clean her "raggedy ass" up in the bathroom. 5RP 502. She went into the bathroom to wash, but he would not let her close the door. 5RP 502. They did not stay long, Parker just said he wanted to tell his friends how awful she was. 5RP 503. Then he took her home. 5RP 503. She thought about running but was afraid of what would happen if he caught her. 5RP 504.

When they got home she changed her pants and lay down on the bed. 5RP 504. He told her she could not sleep because he was not done with her. 5RP 504. He made her sit on the couch while he periodically

berated her and hit her some more. 5RP 504-05. He made her stay up all night while he played Xbox and watched movies. 5RP 505. When she fell asleep he would wake her up. 5RP 505. She did not sleep until Parker fell asleep. 5RP 508.

Parker had a gun. 5RP 506. He kept it under his mattress or in the piano in the hallway. 5RP 506. At one point during that night he went and got the gun. 5RP 506. He put it to Holliday's head and asked her if she wanted to die. 5RP 507. He yelled that she needed to look at the gun while he was pointing it at her. 5RP 507. He struck her with the gun or another object several times, leaving large bumps on her head. 5RP 507.

The next day, he woke her up and told her she needed to go make some money. 5RP 509. She was weak with withdrawal and the injuries and did not fight with him about it. 5RP 509. She did several calls that day. 5RP 510.

During the following week he hit her every day. 5RP 511. On one occasion she bought a pill from one of his friends, who she was not supposed to contact, and Parker found out. 5RP 511. He pushed her down on the bed and began whipping her across the face with a wire hanger. 5RP 512.

Holliday also feared Parker because he told her he was well-placed in a gang, and they would do what he asked, including killing people. 6RP 522. He told her there was nowhere she could go where he would not find her. 6RP 526. After a while she did not even think about leaving because it did not seem like an option. 6RP 527.

Eventually they moved from Llamas's house to a garage apartment that she was told belonged to Parker's mother. 6RP 528.

When he was in custody, Parker told Holliday that she needed to take his gun out from under the bed and put it in a bag in the garage. 6RP 531.

One day Holliday and another girl went to buy some pills and got pulled over by the police. 6RP 532. Detective Heffernan took her aside and talked to her. 6RP 532. He did not arrest her, but wanted information about Parker. 6RP 532. She said she was not comfortable talking about Parker. 6RP 532. Heffernan told her he would let her go if she agreed to talk to him the next day, and let him have the pills she had bought and her cell phone. 6RP 532. She turned over the phone and pills, but did not show up for the meeting. 6RP 532, 534.

When Parker got out of jail, she told him what had happened. 6RP 535. After that, Parker became very "off and on." 6RP 536. He would tell her she was useless and tell her to leave. 6RP 536. He would push her out the front door without her shoes or purse and lock it. 6RP 536. The physical abuse continued as well. 6RP 537-38.

Finally, on April 12, she posted an ad so she could earn some money, which she hoped would placate Parker. 6RP 538. She called a cabbie she regularly used to go to the old house for the call. 6RP 540. Parker thought she was talking to someone else and became enraged and beat her. 6RP 540. Then he made her go the store with him. 6RP 541. There she told him she needed to get to the house because her call was coming. 6RP 541. He let her go, and she called a friend to come and pick her up. 6RP 541.

Her friend took her to the Oyster Bay Inn where there was a room her friend said she could stay in until she figured out what she would do. 6RP 542. She set up some calls so she would have some money. 6RP 542. The first call ended up being a detective. 6RP 542. They arrested her and took her to jail for prostitution and for the drugs from the previous stop. 6RP 543. She subsequently entered a diversion agreement for the charges. 6RP 543. At the time she was arrested, she was using her old phone. 6RP 544. That was seized when she was arrested. 6RP 544.

Jennifer Prerost verified the incident where Parker attacked Holliday at Flewellen's house. 7RP 676-79, 687-88. Flewellen's landlord and her handyman verified that the door had been kicked in. 7RP 737, 8RP 775.

Afterward Prerost lived with Parker and Holliday for about a

month. 7RP 681. Parker kept a gun in the house. 7RP 684. He kept it in case there was any trouble so he could protect them. 7RP 684.

Holliday was pretty naïve when Prerost first met her. 7RP 686. "She didn't know anything about nothing" when it came to prostitution. 7RP 686.

Parker came to attention of the Bremerton police when they were investigating one of his associates. 8RP 886. They learned he had a prostitute living with him and they attempted to identify her. 8RP 886. They found her in a Backpage ad. 8RP 886. They also listened to the jail calls between Parker and Llamas. 8RP 886. They ultimately identified the prostitute as Holliday. 8RP 886.

On February 11, Detective Rodney Rauback observed Holliday in an apparent drug deal. 8RP 811-12. Holliday was a target because she was associated with Parker. 8RP 793. He and Detective Ryan Heffernan contacted her. 8RP 812. They detained her and Heffernan questioned her. 8RP 813. They recovered a pill and her cell phone from her. 8RP 813. They did not arrest her because they were seeking her cooperation. 8RP 814. She did not meet with Heffernan the next day as she agreed. 8RP 890.

The police subsequently saw a Backpage ad for Holliday. 8RP 781. Sergeant Randy Plumb Plum contacted her, posing as a John and set up an appointment. 8RP 783. He met her at the Oyster Bay Inn. 8RP 784. Detectives Rauback and Heffernan went to the meeting with him. 8RP 784. She invited him into the room, and after he checked to be sure no one else was there, Plumb opened the door and the detectives came in. 8RP 784. Heffernan took her phone. 8RP 785. They arrested her. 8RP 785. After she was arrested at the Oyster Bay Inn, Heffernan and Rauback interviewed Holliday. 8RP 815. Holliday had bruises on her arms and legs and was very afraid of talking to them about Parker. 8RP 816, 838.

Police then obtained a warrant to search Parker's residence. 8RP 785. Parker refused to come out, so they called the SWAT team because they had information that he had a firearm. 8RP 786-87. Parker was ultimately arrested and the home was searched. 8RP 787. They located a gun in a bag downstairs in the garage area. 8RP 788. The gun had four rounds with it. 8RP 837. The gun was tested and found to be operable. 8RP 873.

# V. ARGUMENT

# THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE PARKER FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING HE WAS ENTITLED TO A REFERENCE HEARING AND THE RECORD AFFIRMATIVELY SHOWS THAT HE IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF.

#### 1. Considerations governing acceptance of review.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's

acceptance of review:<sup>1</sup>

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should decline to accept review because the ordering of a

reference hearing meets these standards. Conversely, Parker's claims do

not.

# 2. The evidence before the Court of Appeals clearly showed that there was no factual basis for Parker's suppression claims where the police obtained warrants before searching any of the cell phones.

While it rejected all of Parker's direct appeal claims, the Court of

Appeals ordered a reference hearing on the issue of the search of Holliday's phones:

Second, the court shall hold a reference hearing on Parker's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Review of the Court of Appeals resolution of the PRP issues is also governed by this section. RAP 13.5A(a)(1).

claim that J.H.'s cell phones were illegally searched and seized, as *State v. Hinton*, [179 Wn.2d 862, 319 P.3d 9 (2014)] impacts that analysis.

In *Hinton*. the court concluded that the defendant had a privacy interest in his text messages to another person, allowing him to challenge the warrantless search of that person's phone.

On the present record and the present status of briefing, we are unable to determine whether Parker is entitled to relief. Accordingly, we transfer the petition to the superior court for appointment of counsel, a reference hearing, and findings of fact.

Parker, Op. at 27-28 (footnotes omitted).

The Court of Appeals erred because the record established that search warrants were obtained before either of Holliday's phones were searched. The State filed a motion to supplement the appendix to its PRP response before oral argument with copies of these warrants. The proposed appendices clearly showed that Parker's claims that they were searched without a warrant were frivolous. They further showed that *Hinton* has no application to this case.

That leaves only Parker's claim that the police unlawfully seized (as distinct from searching) Holliday's first phone.<sup>2</sup> However, Parker lacks standing to challenge that seizure since none of the evidence obtained from it pertained to a possessory crime.<sup>3</sup> The rights protected by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The second phone was seized as part of a search incident to arrest. 6RP 543-44.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  The State does not concede that the phone was unlawfully seized, but the record is insufficient to address that issue.

the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 are personal rights that may be enforced by exclusion of evidence "only at the instance of one whose own protection was infringed by the search and seizure." *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 138, 99 S. Ct. 421, 58 L. Ed. 2d 387 (1978); *State v. Jones*, 146 Wn.2d 328, 332, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002). To claim automatic standing, a defendant (1) must be charged with an offense that involves possession as an essential element; and (2) must be in possession of the subject matter at the time of the search or seizure. *Jones*, 146 Wn.2d at 332. Parker meets neither of these requirements with regard to the seizure of Holliday's phone. As such he was not entitled to seek suppression of this evidence on the basis that the phone was unlawfully seized. Since the police properly obtained warrants before searching either of Holliday's two phones, there was clearly no basis to suppress the information obtained.

A reference hearing is not a substitute for the petitioner's failure to provide evidence to support his claims. As this Court has stated, "the purpose of a reference hearing is to resolve genuine factual disputes, not to determine whether the petitioner actually has evidence to support his allegations." *In re Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 886, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992). "Bald assertions and conclusory allegations will not support the holding of a hearing," but the dismissal of the petition. *Rice*, at 886, *In re Williams*,

111 Wn.2d 353, 364-65, 759 P.2d 436 (1988). A petitioner must present evidence showing that his factual allegations are based on more than speculation, conjecture, or inadmissible hearsay. *Rice*, 118 Wn.2d at 886.

Here the there is more than a mere lack of evidence supporting Parker's claims. The Court of Appeals was provided with evidence that affirmatively refuted them. As such, the Court of Appeals decision directly conflicts with this Court's precedent. Review of the order for a reference hearing should be granted.

# 3. The Court of Appeals correctly found that Parker's claims are without merit.

Parker raises three claims of sufficiency of the evidence. These claims were raised in Parker's Statement of additional grounds, to which the State was not asked to respond. The Court of Appeals correctly found that these claims were without merit, and the State relies on its resolution of these claims. *See Parker*, Op. at 12-15.

Parker also argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress information obtained from Holliday's cell phone. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, *Parker*, Op. at 17-18, 26, counsel was not deficient because for moving to suppress because the trial occurred before this Court's decision in *Hinton*. Under the controlling decision of *State v. Hinton*, 169 Wn. App. 28, 280 P.3d 476 (2012), Parker would not have been entitled to suppression. Moreover, for the reasons discussed above, Parker has also failed to show prejudice. His petition should be denied.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court deny Parker's petition for review and grant review of the decision to grant a reference hearing.